
 

 

CC 140121agn  Page 1 of 4 

 

CITY OF JACKSONVILLE BEACH 

 

FLORIDA 
 

MEMORANDUM TO: 

 

The Honorable Mayor and 

Members of the City Council 

City of Jacksonville Beach, Florida 

 

Council Members: 

 

The following Agenda of Business has been prepared for consideration and action at the Regular 

Meeting of the City Council on Tuesday, January 21, 2014, at 7:00 P.M. in the Council Chambers, 

11 North Third Street, Jacksonville Beach, Florida. 
 

Opening Ceremonies: Invocation 

 Salute to the Flag 
 

Roll Call 

 

1. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
    

 Regular City Council Meeting held December 16, 2013 
 

 City Council Workshop held December 16, 2013 

 

2. ANNOUNCEMENTS: 

 

3. COURTESY OF THE FLOOR TO VISITORS: 

 

4. MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL: 
 

(a) Employee of the Quarter Awards 
 

(b) Presentation on 26.2 with DONNA Run 

 

5. CITY CLERK:   
 

6. CITY MANAGER: 
 

(a) Monthly Financial Report – Month of December 2013 
 

(b) Award of RFP for Downtown Retail Recruitment 
 

(c) Approve Implementation Plan to Accept Credit Card Payments from Customers for Utility 

and Other Governmental Services. 



Memorandum, Mayor and City Council  

City Council Agenda for January 21, 2014 

 

 

 

CC 140121agn   Page 2 of 4 

(d) Authorize the Execution of the Joint Defense and Common Interest Agreement with the 

North Florida Utilities Coordination Group.   

 

(e) Award Unit Price Bid #1213-14, Providing Roadway, Water, Sewer and Stormwater 

Improvements Along 1
st
 Street N. (6

th
 to 9

th
 Ave.) and 7

th
 Avenue N. (1

st
 to 2

nd
 St.), to the 

Lowest Qualified Bidder, G & H Underground Construction, Inc. 

 

7. RESOLUTIONS: 

 

8. ORDINANCES: 

 

(a)  ORDINANCE NO. 2013-8040 – Second Reading  
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 19.5, “OUTDOOR MUSICAL 

ENTERTAINMENT OR FESTIVALS”, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE 

CITY OF JACKSONVILLE BEACH, FLORIDA, BY REPEALING IT IN ITS 

ENTIRETY, AND REPLACING WITH A NEW CHAPTER 19.5, “SPECIAL EVENTS 

AND FESTIVALS”, PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF ALL ORDINANCES IN 

CONFLICT WITH THIS ORDINANCE; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 

PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

(b)  ORDINANCE NO. 2013-8037 – First Reading 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE V, DIVISION 6, ‘POLICE 

OFFICERS’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM’ OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE 

CITY OF JACKSONVILLE BEACH; TO PROVIDE FOR A MODIFICATION TO THE 

PARAMETERS FOR INVESTMENT OF ASSETS OF THE RETIREMENT SYSTEM; 

PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF ALL 

ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION AND 

PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

(c) ORDINANCE NO. 2013-8038 – First Reading 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE V, DIVISION 7, 

‘FIREFIGHTERS’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM’ OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF JACKSONVILLE BEACH; TO PROVIDE FOR A MODIFICATION TO 

THE PARAMETERS FOR INVESTMENT OF ASSETS OF THE RETIREMENT 

SYSTEM; PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF 

ALL ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION 

AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 



Memorandum, Mayor and City Council  

City Council Agenda for January 21, 2014 

 

 

 

CC 140121agn   Page 3 of 4 

(d) ORDINANCE NO. 2013- 8039 – First Reading 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE V, DIVISION 5, ‘GENERAL 

EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM’ OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE 

CITY OF JACKSONVILLE BEACH; TO PROVIDE FOR A MODIFICATION TO THE 

PARAMETERS FOR INVESTMENT OF ASSETS OF THE RETIREMENT SYSTEM; 

PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF ALL 

ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION AND 

PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

(e) ORDINANCE NO. 2014-8041 – First Reading  
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 12, “FOOD AND FOOD PRODUCTS”, OF 

THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF JACKSONVILLE BEACH, 

FLORIDA, BY ADDING A SECTION 12-33, “MOBILE FOOD VENDING” 

ESTABLISHING DEFINITIONS; LOCATION, PERMIT, AND SEPARATION 

REQUIREMENTS; SIGNAGE AND NOISE, HOURS OF OPERATION, WASTE 

MANAGEMENT, LICENSING AND PERMITS REQUIRED, APPLICATION 

SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS, AND ENFORCEMENT PROCEDURES FOR THE 

OPERATION OF MOBILE FOOD VENDING BUSINESSES IN THE CITY OF 

JACKSONVILLE BEACH; SETTING AN EXPIRATION (“SUNSET”) DATE FOR 

THIS ORDINANCE; PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF ALL ORDINANCES IN 

CONFLICT WITH THIS ORDINANCE; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 

PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

(f)   ORDINANCE NO. 2014-8042 – First Reading (Public Hearing) 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND AN ORDINANCE ENACTING AND ESTABLISHING 

A COMPREHENSIVE LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION AND OFFICIAL 

ZONING MAP FOR THE INCORPORATED AREA OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSONVILLE BEACH, FLORIDA, AS AUTHORIZED BY CHAPTER 163.3202, 

FLORIDA STATUTES, BY ADDING NEW DEFINITIONS AND MOBILE FOOD 

VENDORS AS A PERMITTED USE IN THE COMMERICAL LIMITED: C-1, 

COMMERCIAL GENERAL: C-2, COMMERCIAL SERVICE: CS, CENTRAL 

BUSINESS DISTRICT: CBD; AND CERTAIN REDEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: RD 

AND PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT: PUD ZONING DISTRICTS; TO REPEAL 

ORDINANCES OR PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND FOR 

OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

 



Memorandum, Mayor and City Council  

City Council Agenda for January 21, 2014 

 

 

 

CC 140121agn   Page 4 of 4 

(g)  ORDINANCE NO. 2014-8043 – First Reading  
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 2, “ADMINISTRATION”, OF THE CODE 

OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF JACKSONVILLE BEACH, FLORIDA, BY 

ADDING A NEW PARAGRAPH (6) TO SECTION 2-173, “JURISDICTION OF 

SPECIAL MAGISTRATE” PLACING ENFORCEMENT OF CHAPTER 12 “FOOD AND 

FOOD PRODUCTS” UNDER THE JURISDICTION AND AUTHORITY OF THE 

SPECIAL MAGISTRATE; PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF ALL ORDINANCES 

IN CONFLICT WITH THIS ORDINANCE; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 

PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

 

 Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 /s/George D. Forbes  

 CITY MANAGER 

 

 

GDF:njp 

01/16/14 
 
If a person decides to appeal any decision made by the City Council with respect to any matter considered at any meeting, 

such person may need a record of the proceedings and, for such purpose, such person may need to ensure that a verbatim 

record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.  

 

The public is encouraged to speak on issues on this Agenda that concern them.  Anyone who wishes to speak should submit 

the request to the City Clerk prior to the beginning of the meeting.  These forms are available at the entrance of the City 

Council Chambers for your convenience. 

 

In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities 

needing special accommodation to participate in this meeting should contact the City Clerk’s Office at (904) 247-6299, ext. 

10, no later than 12:00 PM, Friday, January 17, 2014. 



 

 
CC 131216min  Page 1 of 9 

Minutes of Regular City Council Meeting 
held Monday, December 16, 2013, at 7:00 P.M.  
in the Council Chambers, 11 North 3rd Street, 
Jacksonville Beach, Florida.  
 
 
CALL TO ORDER: 
 
Mayor Charlie Latham called the meeting to order. 
 
OPENING CEREMONIES: 
 
Invocation was by Council Member Taylor; followed by the Salute to the Flag.   
 
ROLL CALL: 
 
Mayor: Charlie Latham 
 
Council Members: Keith Doherty Steve Hartkemeyer Christine Hoffman (absent) 
 Tom Taylor Phil Vogelsang Jeanell Wilson  
 
Also present were City Manager George Forbes, City Department Directors and Judy Bullock, 
City Clerk. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
It was moved by Mr. Taylor, seconded by Mr. Hartkemeyer, and passed, to approve the 
following minutes, as presented: 
 

 Regular City Council Meeting held December 2, 2013 

 City Council Workshop held December 2, 2013 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
Councilmember Taylor– 
 

 Mr. Taylor expressed his appreciation to the City of Jacksonville Beach Fire Department, 
Police Department, and, the Beaches Energy Service employees, for volunteering their 
time to help prepare packages of food for the less fortunate. 

 
 Mr. Taylor advised that he and Councilmember Wilson attended Representative Janet 

Adkins’s holiday reception.  He added that the horn section of the Fletcher High School 
Band played Christmas music during the reception. 
 



Minutes of Regular City Council Meeting   
held Monday, December 16, 2013 
 
 

 
CC 131216min  Page 2 of 9 

Mayor Latham – 
 

 Mayor Latham stated that he had the honor of flying out to the USS New York, riding 
with and welcoming the crew to the ship’s new homeport at Mayport Naval Station. 

 
 The 19th Street Charities had an amazing year with over $15,000 in donations and over 

100 bicycles, helmets and locks and presents for distribution. 
 

 Mayor Latham advised that he had attended the Downtown Revitalization and Homeless 
Workshop held by Jacksonville Council President Bill Gulliford on December 10, 2013.  
He added that the group is continuing to work with Cindy Funkhouser (Salzbacher 
Center) on alternative ways to deal with the homeless issue. 
 

 He announced that he had attended Sterling Joyce’s Birthday/Toys for Tots celebration at 
the Casa Marina on December 11, 2013. 
 

 Mayor Latham advised that he attended the monthly meeting on Thursday with the 
Avalon Subdivision residents and thanked Police Chief Dooley and Officer Bowman for 
their assistance. 
 

 He toured Mayport’s Marine Science Center on December 13, 2013, while attending a 
meeting called by Jacksonville Council President Gulliford.  Also in attendance were 
City Mayors, UNF, JU, Paul Astelford, Dr. Vitti, FEL Lee, and others.  The purpose of 
the meeting was to review the best way to capitalize the Center as a way to further 
advance Mayport as a destination point for visitors. 
 

 Mayor Latham extended his appreciation to the “Feed the Hungry” volunteers who 
helped to prepare over 150,000 meals to be sent to families in Haiti.  He expressed a 
special thank you to Tom Taylor, Phil Vogelsang, Keith and Gra Doherty, Pat and Cathy 
Dooley, Gary and Shelly Frazier, and heartfelt thanks to Roy Trotter and Harry Royal for 
the participation by Beaches Energy Services and Customer Support Staff. 
 

Councilmember Wilson – 
 

 Ms. Wilson advised that there is another opportunity to attend Sterling Joyce’s party 
tonight at the Casa Marina.  The admission to the event is a toy and a food item.  She 
added that the donations would go to BEAM. 
 

COURTESY OF THE FLOOR TO VISITORS 
 
No one came forward to address the Council. 
 



Minutes of Regular City Council Meeting   
held Monday, December 16, 2013 
 
 

 
CC 131216min  Page 3 of 9 

MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 
 

(a) Presentation by Jacksonville Transportation Authority (JTA) for the Proposed 
Implementation of a Bus Rapid Transit System Connecting the Downtown Area with 
Jacksonville Beach. 

 
 The presentation was canceled, as no one from JTA was in attendance. 

 
CITY CLERK  
 
CITY MANAGER 

 
(a) Monthly Financial Reports – Month of November 2013 

 
Motion: It was moved by Mr. Taylor, seconded by Mr. Hartkemeyer, to accept the 

Financial Reports for the month of November 2013.  
 
Roll call vote: Ayes - Doherty, Hartkemeyer, Taylor, Vogelsang, Wilson, and Mayor 

Latham; motion carried unanimously. 
 

(b) Approve the Revised Special Events Policy for the City of Jacksonville Beach 
 

Motion: It was moved by Mr. Taylor, seconded by Mr. Hartkemeyer, to approve the 
Revised Special Event Policy, dated December 4, 2013. 

 
Mr. Forbes advised that based on the Council’s direction at the December 2, 2013, 
Workshop, recommended changes have been made to the Policy.  Mr. Forbes went on to 
review the following changes: 
 
 During the months of November, December, January, and February, a Special Event 

can take place up to three days, but cannot exceed a total of twenty hours.  This 
would allow an event to be held on Friday night, Saturday, and Sunday. 
Mr. Forbes explained that normally, a Special Event is from noon to ten on Saturday 
and Sunday, but it could be held on Friday night during the four-month period, as 
long as they do not exceed the twenty-hour limit. 
 

 Facility Rental Areas have been amended to clarify that the municipal parking lot 
abutting Latham Plaza can only be rented during the months of November, 
December, January, and February.  Mr. Forbes advised that there is an exception 
allowing use of the parking lot during the Springing the Blues event and the Airshow. 

 



Minutes of Regular City Council Meeting   
held Monday, December 16, 2013 
 
 

 
CC 131216min  Page 4 of 9 

He added that the other months of the year are “peak” months and the parking lot is 
necessary for the local businesses. 
 

 Mr. Forbes advised he is also going to request that Council repeal Section 10, in its 
entirety (pages 27-30).  He explained that Councilmember Hoffman had requested 
that the document be checked for redundancy and it was found that pages 27–30 
contained fees, which have been removed and are established by Resolution. 

 
 Mr. Forbes explained that he had received questions/comments from Councilmember 

Hoffman.  He handed out her e-mail, for the record, to all Councilmembers, and 
responded to her questions. 

 
 He advised that she was concerned about the limitation of one Special Event per 

weekend.  He responded that an event could be held for more than one day, so there 
should not be any problems.  Mr. Forbes further explained that the City has many Special 
Events, such as a volleyball tournament on the beach, and added that Latham Plaza is also 
used for events, as long as the grassy areas are not damaged. 

 
 Mr. Forbes explained that Ms. Hoffman also asked for a status on Food Trucks.  He 

stated that the food truck ordinance should go before the Planning Commission in January 
 2014, and then to the Council at their January 21, 2014, meeting. 
 
 A request was also received from Sam Veal regarding the Great Atlantic Seafood 

Festival.  It will be the 25th Anniversary of the festival and he requested an exception to 
allow the Festival to be held over a two-day period, beginning on March 15, 2014.  Mr. 
Veal also requested use of the Latham Plaza parking lot. 

 
Mr. Forbes stated that the Seafood Festival should continue to be for one day and advised 
the Council that they could make an exception for use of the parking lot.  He added that 
the Great Atlantic Seafood Festival had utilized the parking lot in prior years. 
 
Ms. Wilson commented that Council had discussed the November to February change 
and that it would be a pilot program or sunset date.  She added that making changes to the 
policy later would be more difficult without a sunset date. 
 
Mr. Forbes advised that Council has the ability to make changes to the policy if needed, 
which would make a pilot program or sunset date unnecessary.  [Due to this being a 
Policy, not an Ordinance.]  He added that the Council would also consider repealing the 
1979 Ordinance, since it was made obsolete many years ago when Council adopted a 
Special Events Policy. 
 



Minutes of Regular City Council Meeting   
held Monday, December 16, 2013 
 
 

 
CC 131216min  Page 5 of 9 

Mr. Vogelsang requested that the month of October be added, to allow for a family-
friendly Halloween Festival or Oktoberfest. 
 
Mr. Doherty asked where the food vendors set up during summer events? 
 
Mr. Forbes responded that First Street could be utilized since it would be closed in the 
festival area. 
 
Mr. Doherty remarked he would like to see “Deck the Chairs” grow into an event that is 
more Christmas focused. 

 
Mayor Latham commented that the changes are also to help bring more businesses into 
the downtown. 
 
Mr. Hartkemeyer voiced his concerns with the “20 hour limitation” and suggested that 
time limits be defined, such as 6:00 p.m. to 10:00 p.m. on Friday, 12:00 p.m. to 10:00 
p.m. on Saturday, and 12:00 p.m. to 6:00 p.m. on Sunday. 
 
Mr. Forbes referred Councilmembers to page 3 (d) of the policy, which reads: 
 

“The length of a festival is limited to one day.  The only exceptions to the 
one-day limit are Springing the Blues and the Sea and Sky Spectacular, 
which are three days.  Other exceptions are festivals that are scheduled for 
November, December, January, and February, which may not exceed 20 
hours as follows, Friday 7 – 10 p.m., Saturday 12 Noon – 10 p.m., Sunday 
12 Noon – 7 p.m.” 

 
Ms. Wilson asked if the amended policy would affect the Better Jacksonville Beach Art 
Walk and Dining held on Tuesday evenings. 
 
Mayor Latham and Mr. Forbes advised that the policy would not have any impact on 
those activities. 
 
Motion to Amend No. 1: It was moved by Mr. Vogelsang, seconded by Ms. Wilson, to 

add the month of October to Page 3(d) of the proposed Special 
Events Policy, to allow for an October Festival, which would 
not exceed the twenty hour limitation. 

 
Roll call vote: Ayes -  Hartkemeyer, Taylor, Vogelsang, Wilson, Doherty, and Mayor 

Latham; motion carried unanimously. 
 



Minutes of Regular City Council Meeting   
held Monday, December 16, 2013 
 
 

 
CC 131216min  Page 6 of 9 

Motion to Amend No. 2:   It was moved by Wilson, seconded by Mr. Taylor, to amend 
Section 10 of the Special Events Policy in its entirety, by 
deleting it in its entirety, the Definition of Fees, Changes, for 
Festivals and Special Events held on City Facilities, which 
would eliminate pages 27 to 30 of the Policy. 

 
Roll call vote: Ayes -  Taylor, Vogelsang, Wilson, Hartkemeyer, and Mayor Latham; 

motion carried unanimously. 
 
Original Motion: To approve the Revised Special Event Policy, dated December 4, 2013, 

[with the two approved amendments] made by Mr. Taylor and 
seconded by Mr. Hartkemeyer. 

 
Conflict of Interest 
 
Councilmember Doherty declared a Conflict of Interest and advised that he would be 
abstaining from the vote. 
 
Roll call vote: Ayes -  Vogelsang, Wilson, Hartkemeyer, Taylor, and Mayor Latham.  

Councilmember Doherty abstained from the vote.  The motion 
carried. 

 
RESOLUTIONS 
 

(a) RESOLUTION NO.  1926-2013 
Mayor Latham requested that the City Clerk read Resolution No. 1926-2013 by title only; 
whereupon Ms. Bullock read the following: 
  

“A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF JACKSONVILLE BEACH, 
FLORIDA, ESTABLISHING FEES FOR SPECIAL EVENTS.” 

 
Motion: It was moved by Mr. Taylor, seconded by Mr. Hartkemeyer, to adopt 

Resolution No. 1926-2013 establishing rates and fees for Special Events. 
 

Mr. Forbes advised that the Resolution simplifies the fees and he reviewed changes that 
have been made since the workshop meeting: 
 
 Reduce the fee for use of the Latham Parking Lot from $2,000 to $1,000, which 

reflects that the parking lot can only be rented during the non-peak months. 
 

 Reduce the rates for beach events to $100, to reflect the minimal staff time needed for 
events held on the beach. 



Minutes of Regular City Council Meeting   
held Monday, December 16, 2013 
 
 

 
CC 131216min  Page 7 of 9 

Mr. Forbes added that Council might wish to consider Mr. Veal’s request to use the 
Latham Parking Lot for the Great Atlantic Seafood Festival in March 2014.  He also 
advised that Mr. Veal has used the parking lot for the seafood festival in past years. 
 
Ms. Wilson asked about non-profit and for-profit fees, and if the reduced Beach Events 
fee was adequate to cover the City’s expenses for staff and cleanup. 
 
Mr. Forbes responded that Parks and Recreation Director Gary Meadors advised that only 
one for-profit event has been held over the years.  As to the reduction for beach events, 
cleanup would be a separate fee and Mr. Meador’s had assured him that beach type 
events take very little staff time. 
 
Amended Motion: It was moved by Ms. Wilson, seconded by Mr. Taylor, to add the 

Great Atlantic Seafood Festival in March 2014 to page 3 of the 
Resolution, which will read (additions underlined): 

 
 “Latham Plaza Parking Lot – (Only available during the months of 

November, December, January, and February, except for Springing 
the Blues, The Great Atlantic Seafood Festival in March, and the Air 
Show.”  [The month of October was added as a clarification since it 
was added to the Special Event Policy, for multi-day events.] 

 
Conflict of Interest 
 
Councilmember Doherty declared a Conflict of Interest and advised that he would be 
abstaining from the vote. 
 
Roll call vote: Ayes -  Wilson, Hartkemeyer, Taylor, Vogelsang, and Mayor Latham.  

Councilmember Doherty abstained from the vote.  The motion to 
amend carried. 

 
Original Motion: To adopt Resolution No. 1926-2013 establishing rates and fees for 

Special Events, [with the approved amendment] made by Mr. Taylor 
and seconded by Mr. Hartkemeyer. 

 
Conflict of Interest 
 
Councilmember Doherty declared a Conflict of Interest and advised that he would be 
abstaining from the vote. 
 



Minutes of Regular City Council Meeting   
held Monday, December 16, 2013 
 
 

 
CC 131216min  Page 8 of 9 

Roll call vote: Ayes -  Hartkemeyer, Taylor, Vogelsang, Wilson, and Mayor Latham.  
Councilmember Doherty abstained from the vote.  The motion to 
adopt with the amendment carried. 

 
ORDINANCES 
 

(a) ORDINANCE NO.  2013-8040 – FIRST READING 

Mayor Latham requested that the City Clerk read Ordinance No. 2013-8040, by title 
only; whereupon Ms. Bullock read the following: 

 
“AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 19.5, “OUTDOOR 
MUSICAL ENTERTAINMENT OR FESTIVALS”, OF THE CODE 
OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF JACKSONVILLE BEACH, 
FLORIDA, BY REPEALING IT IN ITS ENTIRETY, AND 
REPLACING WITH A NEW CHAPTER 19.5, “SPECIAL EVENTS 
AND FESTIVALS”, PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF ALL 
ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT WITH THIS ORDINANCE; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR 
CODIFICATION; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE.” 
 

Motion:  It was moved by Mr. Taylor, seconded by Mr. Hartkemeyer, to adopt Ordinance 
No. 2013-8040 that requires the City to regulate Special Events and Festivals, 
through a Special Events Policy, adopted by the City Council. 

 
Mr. Forbes advised that the Ordinance would repeal a lengthy ordinance adopted in 1979 
on Outdoor Music, Entertainment, and Festivals, which has been obsolete for the past 10 
years. 
  
Roll call vote: Ayes - Hartkemeyer, Taylor, Vogelsang, Wilson, Doherty, and Mayor 

Latham; motion carried unanimously.  
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business coming before the Council, Mayor Latham closed the meeting at 
7:41 p.m. 
 
Recognition of Fletcher Students 
 
Mayor Latham requested that the students from Fletcher in attendance for their Civics 
Requirements to stand.  He added that there will be a Town Hall Meeting in January 2014, where 



Minutes of Regular City Council Meeting   
held Monday, December 16, 2013 
 
 

 
CC 131216min  Page 9 of 9 

the Civics Teacher will bring a Junior Council for feedback on how they would make 
Jacksonville Beach more family friendly. 
 
ADJOURNMENT and RECESS 
 
At this time, Mayor Latham adjourned the meeting and called a five-minute recess before 
convening the Council Workshop. 
 
Submitted by: Judy L. Bullock  
 City Clerk 
   
  
    Approval: 
 
 
 
       
    William C. Latham, Mayor 
 
     
     Date:  January 21, 2014  



Minutes of City Council Workshop 
Monday, December 16, 2013 – 7:45 P.M.  

City Council Chambers 

 
WS 131216min Page 1 of 4 

 
Mayor Latham called the workshop to order at 7:45 P.M. 
 
The following City Council members were in attendance: 
 
 Mayor Charlie Latham        
 
 Keith Doherty    Tom Taylor 
 Chris Hoffman (absent)  Phil Vogelsang 
 Steve Hartkemeyer   Jeanell Wilson (absent) 
 
Also present was City Manager George Forbes, Department Directors and staff, and City Clerk Judy 
Bullock. 
 
Purpose of Workshop 
 
Mayor Latham explained that the Council has workshops so that issues can be discussed.  He stated 
that they would not be seeking citizen input at this meeting, but everyone is welcome to stay for the 
workshop. 
 
Pension System Investments 
 
Discuss recommendation by Pension Boards to increase the allowable investment in equities from 50% 
to 70%, change the measurement of the percentage invested from a cost basis to a market basis, and 
allow the investment in real estate. 
 
Mr. Forbes advised that the City of Jacksonville Beach has three Pension Plans:  Firefighters’, General 
Employees’ and Police Officers’ and three Boards of Trustees to oversee investment of the funds and 
earn target return of 8% percent.  He added that the employee pension benefits are based on the return 
of 8%. 

 
He explained that the financial consultants with the Bogdahn Group, has recommended amendments to 
the Pension System’s Investment Policy to further diversify the portfolio so that the 8% rate of return 
is attainable.  Mr. Forbes reviewed the proposed amendments, as follows: 
 

 Change the measurement of maximum investment equities to market value instead of the 
current cost value. 
 

 Increase the maximum investment in equities from 50% to 70%, with a target of 60%; Mr. 
Forbes advised that there is also an alternate amendment to allow a maximum investment in 
equities of 60%, which is less risk. 

 
 Allow investment in Real Estate; Mr. Forbes stated that the current investment policy does not 

allow this type of investment. 



Minutes of City Council Workshop 
held on Monday, December 16, 2013  
 

 
WS 131216min   Page 2 of 4 

 Recommended maximum investment in real estate is 10% with a target of 5%; however, Mr. 
Forbes advised that there is also an alternate amendment to allow a maximum investment of 
5%. 
 

Troy Brown and Dan Johnson of the Bogdahn Group were in attendance to answer any questions or 
provide information on the recommendations. 
 
Mr. Brown provided an overview of the recommended changes to the Pension Investment Policy.  He 
explained that with the current limitations on investments, the 8% actuarial rate of return will not be 
attainable.  Mr. Brown advised that the proposed ordinance would allow a 70% maximum investment 
in equities; however, the investment policy would have a target of 60%. 
 
In today’s market, investment in real estate is a profitable venture and an advantageous way to further 
diversify the portfolio.  Mr. Brown explained that the ordinance would have a maximum investment of 
10%, with a 5% target in the investment policy.  Mr. Brown further stated that the investment into real 
estate would be transferred from the fixed income portfolio. 
 
Mr. Forbes distributed a chart showing the total portfolio growth and cash flow, as of September 30, 
2013.  Mr. Brown provided an in depth explanation of the chart and advised that the plan has actually 
earned more than the 8% actuarial rate of return since 1987. 
 
Following a brief discussion, Councilmembers concurred that they would be comfortable with 65% 
investment in equities and 10% in real estate. 
 
Over the Counter Credit Card Payments 
 
Discuss the implementation of the plan to accept over the counter credit card payments for utilities and 
other governmental services. 
 
Mr. Forbes advised that they have been working to implement over the counter credit card payments 
for the past 10 years.  He explained that the Supreme Court recently rendered a decision that allows a 
utility or government to collect a convenience fee to offset the credit card fees that the City would 
incur. 
 
He stated that payment by credit card would be utilized for utility payments, building permits, local 
business tax, etc. 
 
Glenda Wagner, Beaches Energy Services Customer Service Supervisor, explained the current process 
for over the counter payments.  When a customer comes to the counter to pay a deposit or their 
monthly bill and they wish to pay by credit card, the customer is advised that they can only pay by 
cash or check.  This requires the customer to leave and come back to conduct business with the City.  
Ms. Wagner also advised that there is a two-day delay on the E-Check process and that there is no 
charge to the customer if they use an e-check. 
 



Minutes of City Council Workshop 
held on Monday, December 16, 2013  
 

 
WS 131216min   Page 3 of 4 

Mr. Forbes advised that a fee of 2% is recommended, to cover the credit card transaction costs incurred 
by the City.  Currently, if a customer pays by credit or debit card on line, they pay a convenience fee of 
$4.95 per a $500 transaction.  Mr. Forbes added that the customers would be made aware of the 2% fee 
and the other payment methods available would be explained. 
 
Mr. Doherty recommended that the City limit the use of credit cards to Visa, MasterCard, and 
Discover Card, due to the higher fees charged by the other credit card companies. 
 
Mr. Vogelsang asked how many customers actually pay by e-check. 
 
Mr. Forbes responded that 2,343 customers paid by e-check in November 2013. 
 
Council members advised that they had no objections to implementation of the credit card process. 
 
Mr. Forbes stated that they would delineate which credit cards will be accepted and that would become 
part of the policy.  He added that the plan is to bring the program to Council for consideration in 
January 2014. 
 
Discuss the North Florida Utilities Group Joint Defense and Common Interest Agreement 
 
Mayor Latham advised that the next item is to authorize additional cooperation with the City’s Partners 
in the North Florida Utilities Coordination Group Agreement.  
 
Mr. Forbes explained that several years ago the group, North Florida Utilities Coordination Group, was 
formed.  It currently consists of eight members:  the City of Atlantic Beach, City of Neptune Beach, 
City of Jacksonville Beach, JEA, Clay County Utility Authority, St. Johns County Utilities, Gainesville 
Regional Utilities, and the Town of Orange Park.   
 
The group was formed as a result of the numerous state regulations regarding water usage.  According 
to a scientific study, it is claimed that the water withdrawals from North Florida [from the Aquifer] are 
negatively affecting the flow of the Suwannee River and the Upper Sante Fe River Basin.  The concern 
is that there will be additional regulations placed on the cities in the group.  The regulations would be 
to reduce the flow of water taken out of the ground, which could translate into higher costs to provide 
water to customers. 
 
Mr. Forbes advised, at this point the cities need scientific data, consultants, and legal representation to 
protect our interests.  The utilities coordination group is preparing for a legal challenge, if it becomes 
necessary in early 2014. 
 
Mayor Latham stated that a representative is required to look out for your interests, that you cannot do 
it as an individual.  He advised that his own company retains a consulting firm to monitor legislation.  
Mayor Latham said that he feels this is a good investment and the City needs to move forward with the 
issue. 
 



Minutes of City Council Workshop 
held on Monday, December 16, 2013  
 

 
WS 131216min   Page 4 of 4 

Mr. Forbes advised that the City sent a letter to the Department of Transportation [DOT] requesting 
that Jacksonville Beach be included in their five-year master plan to upgrade the drainage system.  He 
added that he plans to utilize a company like Public Affairs Consultants, to assist the City’s interests 
just before and during the upcoming legislative session.   
 
Mr. Forbes stated that the fee would be approximately $10,000 for three to four months assistance.  He 
added that the City does have monies available in the legal and legislative fee budget. 
 
The workshop adjourned at 8:40 p.m. 
 
Submitted by: Judy L. Bullock 
  City Clerk        
                                                
    
  Approved: 
 
 
 

   

William C. Latham, Mayor 
 

Date: January 21, 2014                  































































































 

City of 

Jacksonville Beach 

City Hall 

11 North Third Street 

Jacksonville Beach 

FL  32250 

Phone: 904.247.6263 

Fax: 904.247.6169 

 

www.jacksonvillebeach.org 

 

HUMAN RESOURCES 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:    George D. Forbes, City Manager 

 

THROUGH:   Karen Nelson, Human Resources Director 

 

FROM:  Ann Meuse, Payroll/Benefits Administrator 

 

SUBJECT: Ordinance numbers 2013-8037, 2013-8038, and 2013-8039 

Amending Chapter 2, Article V of Division 6 - Police Officers’ 

Retirement System; Division 7 - Firefighters’ Retirement System 

and Division 5 - General Employees’ Retirement System of the 

Code of Ordinances.  

 

DATE: December 18, 2013 

 

ACTION REQUESTED 

Adopt the following ordinances as recommended by the Police Officers’, 

Firefighters’ and General Employees’ pension boards: 

 

 Ordinance Number 2013-8037, amending Chapter 2, Article V, Division 6, 

‘Police Officers’ Retirement System’, of the Code of Ordinances of the 

City of Jacksonville Beach.  

 Ordinance Number 2013-8038, amending Chapter 2, Article V, Division 7, 

‘Firefighters’ Retirement System’, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 

Jacksonville Beach. 

 Ordinance Number 2013-8039, amending Chapter 2, Article V, Division 5, 

‘General Employees’ Retirement System’, of the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Jacksonville Beach.   

 

The amendments will change the following: 

 

 Allows an increase in the maximum investment in equities from 50% to 

65%. 

 Changes the measurement of investments in equities from a cost basis to 

market value. 

 Allows for 10% investment in real estate. 

 

 

 

 



 

Memorandum to George D. Forbes 

December 18, 2013 

Page 2 of 4 

 

BACKGROUND 

The City of Jacksonville Beach has three retirement plans, the General 

Employees’ Retirement System, Police Officers’ Retirement System and the 

Firefighters’ Retirement System. Each retirement plan has its own board of 

trustees, consisting of 5 members. The General Employees’ board includes 2 

members of the City Council, selected by the City Council. 

 

The boards of trustees are the trustees of the assets of their respective 

retirement systems and have authority to invest the assets of the retirement 

systems within the limitations and restrictions imposed by the State of Florida 

and the City’s pension ordinances.  

 

The boards of trustees employ the Bogdahn Group to act as their investment 

advisor for their respective retirement plans. The Bogdahn Group recommends 

investment strategies to the pension boards, which are incorporated into an 

investment policy that is approved by the boards. These strategies include 

establishment of target market allocations for the investment of the pension 

plan assets, as defined by the plans’ investment policy and investment limits 

that are established by the City’s pension ordinances.  

 

At a special joint meeting of the pension boards of trustees on October 3, 2013, 

the Bogdahn group made a recommendation that the boards present the 

following amendments to the City’s pension ordinances to City Council for 

adoption: 

 

 Increase the allowable investment in equities from 50% to 70% of the 

retirement systems assets, and change the measurement of the 

percentage invested from a cost basis to a market basis.  

 

 Change the allowable investments to include real estate up to 10% 

of the retirement system assets.  

 

The boards of trustees authorized the pension plans’ attorney to prepare draft 

ordinances to reflect the proposed changes and approved the draft ordinances at 

their regularly scheduled quarterly meeting November 12, 2013. 

 

 



 

Memorandum to George D. Forbes 

December 18, 2013 

Page 3 of 4 

 

At the December 16, 2013 City Council workshop, the City Council directed staff 

to prepare pension ordinances for the General Employees, Police Officers and 

Firefighter retirement systems that would: 

 

 Require the use of market value rather than cost for the measurement of 

the pension plans’ investments. 

 

 Increase the allowable investment in equities from 50% to 65%.  

 

 Allow investment in real estate limited to 10% of the retirement system 

assets.  

 

Attached are a summary of the recommendations made by the Bogdahn Group 

and pension ordinances with changes as directed by the City Council at the City 

Council workshop December 16, 2013. 

 

Summary of the issues before the Council are as follows: 

 

Amendments to 

Pension Ordinances 

Existing 

Pension 

Ordinances 

Board of Trustees 

Recommended 

Amendments 

City Council 

Directed 

Measurement of 

Maximum Investment 

in Equities 

 

Cost 

 

Market 

 

Market 

Maximum Investment 

in Equities 

 

50% 

 

70% 

 

65% 

Allowable investment in 

Real Estate 

 

No 

 

Yes 

 

Yes 

Maximum Investment 

in Real Estate 

 

N/A 

 

10% 

 

10% 

 

 

 



 

Memorandum to George D. Forbes 

December 18, 2013 

Page 4 of 4 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

1. Adopt Ordinance Number 2013-8037, amending Chapter 2, Article V, 

Division 6, ‘Police Officers’ Retirement System’, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Jacksonville Beach to allow for changes in the 

investment policy for the Police Officers’ pension plan. 

 

2. Adopt Ordinance Number 2013-8038, amending Chapter 2, Article V, 

Division 7, ‘Firefighters’ Retirement System’, of the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Jacksonville Beach to allow for changes in the investment 

policy for the Firefighters’ pension plan. 

 

3. Adopt Ordinance Number 2013-8039, amending Chapter 2, Article V, 

Division 5, ‘General Employees’ Retirement System’, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Jacksonville Beach to allow changes in the 

investment policy for the General Employees’ pension plan. 

 

 





















































Ordinance No. 2014-8043  Page 1 of 2 

Introduced By:   

1st Reading:    

2nd Reading:   

 

 

ORDINANCE NO.  2014-8043 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 2, “ADMINISTRATION”, OF THE 

CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF JACKSONVILLE BEACH, 

FLORIDA, BY ADDING A NEW PARAGRAPH (6) TO SECTION 2-173, 

“JURISDICTION OF SPECIAL MAGISTRATE” PLACING ENFORCEMENT 

OF CHAPTER 12 “FOOD AND FOOD PRODUCTS” UNDER THE 

JURISDICTION AND AUTHORITY OF THE SPECIAL MAGISTRATE; 

PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF ALL ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT 

WITH THIS ORDINANCE; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING 

FOR CODIFICATION; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF JACKSONVILLE BEACH, 

FLORIDA: 

 

SECTION 1.  That Section 2-173 of Chapter 2 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 

Jacksonville Beach, Florida is amended and shall read as follows: 

 

Sec. 2-173. Jurisdiction of special magistrate. 

 

 (a)  Except as otherwise provided in this Code of Ordinances, the 

special magistrate shall have the jurisdiction and authority to hear and decide 

alleged violations of the codes of the city, including, but not limited to the 

following: 

 

(1) Chapter 3. Advertising. 

 

(2) Chapter 4. Alcoholic Beverages. Section 4-2 Prohibited Hours of 

Sale, Consumption, and Service 

 

(3) Chapter 5.  Animals and Fowl, Article I. In General. 

 

(4) Chapter 6.  Beaches and Bulkheads, Article I. In General. 

 

(5) Chapter 7.  Buildings and Building Regulations. 

 

(6) Chapter 12.  Food and Food Products. 

 

(7) Chapter 14.  Junked, Abandoned Property. 



Ordinance No. 2014-8043  Page 2 of 2 

(8) Chapter 19.  Nuisances. 

 

(9) Chapter 27. Residential and Commercial Solid Waste Collection, 

Disposal, and Assessment. 

 

(10) Chapter 28.  Streets, Sidewalks, and Other Public Places. 

 

(11) Chapter 32.  Utilities. 

 

(12) Chapter 34.  Land Development Code.  

 

 SECTION 2.  If any provision of this Ordinance or the particular application of this 

Ordinance shall be held invalid by any Court, administrative agency or other body with 

appropriate jurisdiction, the remaining section, subsection, sentences, clauses, or phrases shall 

remain in effect. 

 

SECTION 3.  That all other ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this 

ordinance are, to the extent the same may be in conflict, repealed. 

 

 SECTION 4.  Codification of this ordinance in the Code of Ordinances of the City of 

Jacksonville Beach is hereby authorized and directed. 

 

 SECTION 5.  This ordinance shall take effect upon its adoption in accordance with the 

law. 

 

AUTHENTICATED THIS ______ DAY OF ________________________, 2014. 

 

 

 

 

        

 William C. Latham, Mayor 

 

 

 

        

 Judy Bullock, City Clerk  

 

 


	CC 140121 agn
	CC 131216min  jlb with watermark
	WS 131216min jlb with watermark
	CC 131216 Agenda Packet



